IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FAUNCE LEVON PEARCE,

Appellant,

v. LOWER TRIBUNAL NO: 00-

3110CFAES

STATE OF FLORIDA, APPEAL NO: SC02-476

Appellee.

_____/

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FAUNCE LEVON PEARCE

Appeal from the Circuit Court

of

Pasco County, Florida

Steven Herman,

Esquire

Steven Herman, P.A.

38537 Fifth Avenue Zephyrhills, FL 33540

(813) 788-9994 FBN: 264679 For Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On September 17, 1999, an indictment was filed in the lower court charging the Appellant and his co-defendant, Lawrence Joey Smith, with murder in the first degree and attempted murder in the first degree, a felony punishable by life imprisonment. The indictment alleged that the co-defendants on September 14, 1999, did, from a premeditated design, affect the death of Robert Crawford and attempt to kill Stephen Tuttle by use of a firearm (R-1). Mr. Pearce was arrested for this crime on September 22, 1999 (R-10). On August 9, 2000, the State filed its Notice of intent to seek the death penalty in this case as it related to Mr. Pearce (R-125).

The trial of this cause commenced on July 16, 2001 (T-1). The State's presentation begins with the testimony of Bryon Loucks (T-403), who testified that on September 13, 1999, the defendant approached him and indicated his interest in acquiring certain drugs. Specifically, the Appellant was looking for Mr. Loucks' son, Ken Shook. Ken Shook was at Mr. Loucks' home (T-439) and he testified that the Appellant approached him about purchasing some "gel tabs".

According to Mr. Loucks, his son called the victims, Stephen Tuttle and Rob Crawford, in his efforts to locate these drugs for the Appellant. The testimony of Stephen Tuttle (T-551) indicates that Mr. Shook perhaps first contacted one Amanda Havner who came over to the former's residence looking for the

gel tabs. Ultimately, Stephen, Rob and Amanda go over to Brian Loucks' residence.

Stephen Tuttle testifies that when he arrived at the Loucks' residence, the Appellant was there. He also indicated he observed the Appellant to be in possession of a gun.

All of the witnesses agreed that the Appellant gave Ken Shook the money, approximately \$1,200.00, for the purchase of the gel tabs. Brian Loucks remembers the Appellant stating to Ken and the others, "This is your life. Make sure you bring back the drugs." Steven Tuttle recalled that the Appellant cautioned them to "Bring back the money or the drugs". The Appellant stayed at Brian Loucks' residence with him and the balance of the witnesses left.

Prior to leaving and according to the testimony of Tanya Barcomb (T-527), Stephen Tuttle had called her about obtaining the gel tabs. Ms. Barcomb testified that the witnesses came to her home. Ken Shook testified that he gave the money to Amanda Havner, who in turn when she arrived at Ms. Marcomb's residence, gave the money over to Tanya.

Unbeknownst to everyone, Ms. Barcomb had conspired with her boyfriend to rob the parties of the money. Amanda gave the money to Ms. Barcomb, who left her home and, thereafter, advised Amanda that they had been "jacked". The parties called Brian Loucks' residence and advised him that they had been robbed of the monies. Mr. Loucks' testified he told the Appellant what had occurred. He testified that the Appellant did not appear

angry as a result of this news, but commented that "they would have to pay the consequences." Stephen Tuttle testified that the witnesses went back to the Loucks' residence to tell the Appellant what he already knew.

Mr. Loucks testified that the gun in the Appellant's possession was a 40 caliber pistol. Mr. Tuttle testified that when they returned, the Appellant pulled the gun, threatened the parties and pointed it at them. Mr. Loucks indicated that the Appellant demanded that they all go in the office located on the Loucks' property, including Amanda Havner. He also states that the Appellant was waiving the gun around. In the midst of this, Mr. Loucks testified that the Appellant grabbed Amanda by the throat, put the gun to her head and slammed her head into the wall. He testified that the Appellant stated "I want my money, if not I'll blow your head off." However, the witnesses Stephen Tuttle and Ken Shook both remember Amanda standing up to the Specifically, Ken Shook recalls the Appellant with Appellant. the gun. However he testified that Mr. Pearce laid it on the counter and told Amanda to "shoot him". Mr. Shook describes Amanda having a knife and both he and Mr. Tuttle indicate that Amanda jumps in the face of the Appellant prior to his physical confrontation with her. Amanda testified that the Appellant was smoking a cigarette. She notices that Ken Shook has a knife and the defendant hands it to her, by putting it on the table in front of her. This is when she gets into the Appellant's face. It was after this that he became angry and grabbed and slammed her against the wall. Both Ken Shook and Stephen Tuttle agree that the Appellant was angry. Mr. Tuttle adds that he felt he wasn't free to leave the premises, at that point.

Mr. Shook testifies that everybody calms down and the Appellant puts the gun down. Amanda Havner testifies that she went outside the residence with the Appellant, alone. All of the remainder of the witnesses remained in the residence, alone. She testifies that the Appellant agrees to let her leave. After that, the Appellant again goes outside of the residence with Stephen Tuttle, according to Brian Loucks. Again he leaves the remainder of the witnesses alone in the residence. Stephen Tuttle testified that when the Appellant took him outside, he was forced to his knees and the Appellant put a gun to his head. He continues to relate that the Appellant forced him to perform fellatio on him. While the Appellant was outside, Amanda called Tanya Barcomb. Tanya testifies that Amanda sounded upset, so she called her brother Joe Havner, even though Amanda told her not to do so. Joe Havner testifies (T-521) that he talks with his sister on the telephone and goes to the business, We Shelter America, which is where the Loucks' residence is located. sees her drive out of the premises and follows her home. he catches up with her, he describes her demeanor as hysterical.

After Amanda leaves the premises, Bryan Loucks, Ken Shook, and Stephen Tuttle all testify that things had calmed down.

Amanda Havner testified that the Appellant told her that he

would take Stephen and Rob home and that he knew it was Tanya that had the money. She also described the Appellant as calm.

Bryan Loucks testifies, at this time, the Appellant makes a telephone call to someone identified as "Chippy" and indicates he believes he can get his money back. Bryan Loucks, Ken Shook, and Stephen Tuttle all testify that the Appellant makes another telephone call. That call was apparently made to Teddy Butterfield.

Mr. Butterfield testified at the trial that he was acquainted with the Appellant, a party by the name of Heath Brittingham and the co-defendant, Joey Smith (T-590). Mr. Butterfield testified that he was with Brittingham and Smith when he got a telephone call from the Appellant. He testified that Mr. Pearce asked him for his help and indicated that he had been "ripped off". He said that the Appellant told him to "get a piece." So he armed himself with a small handgun. After that telephone call Brittingham arms himself with a shotgun and Joey Smith obtains a 9 mm handgun. Mr. Butterfield states that the three of them went to We Shelter America.

Everyone agrees that those three arrive at the Loucks residence. Bryan Loucks and Ken Shook notice that both Teddy Butterfield and Joey Smith arrive with guns. Stephen Tuttle testifies that all three of them were armed. Ken Shook observes that they all appear to be under the influence of drugs. Mr. Butterfield testified that when he arrived at We Shelter

America, the Appellant appeared in a normal state to him.

Bryan Loucks testified that the Appellant indicated he was "taking the boys to 'rough them up'". But he understood that they all left to get the money back from Chippy. Mr Loucks agreed that the Appellant did not appear angry and he later advised the investigating detective that the Appellant indicated he would not hurt the boys.

Ken Shook testified that Joey Smith and the Appellant advised that they were going to take care of business at the motel (where the rip off occurred). He also understood that the Appellant was going to take the boys home. He even volunteered to go along. He concluded his testimony by adding that he had used Cocaine with the Appellant that particular evening.

Stephen Tuttle testified that he was forced into the car, but was not specifically threatened. He also understood that the plan was to go find the Appellant's money. Mr. Butterfield's recollection was that the defendant had indicated that the "kids" (Rob and Steve) were going to show them where the people lived who got ripped off. He concurred that he heard no threats made and observed that the kids "jumped" into the car.

When Heath Brittingham testified (T-626) he told of going to We Shelter America. He described everyone as acting calm when he arrived there. He told about taking a firearm with him and describes Joey Smith as being in possession of the 9 mm handgun. He also observed that the Appellant had the 40 caliber

handgun and that he was waiving it around. It was his testimony that the Appellant told the victim to get into the car. Mr. Butterfield agreed that the Appellant had a gun in his hand when he arrived at We Shelter America. He saw the Appellant and Joey Smith speak with each other, but had no knowledge of the content of their conversation. However, he described the Appellant as being in charge.

Stephen Tuttle testified that the Appellant was driving the Joey Smith was in the front passenger seat and Heath Brittingham and Teddy Butterfield were situated on both sides of him in the rear seat of the vehicle. He was sitting on Rob's Stephen Tuttle testified that he heard no conversation between the Defendants. There were no threats made to him or to Teddy Butterfield and Mr. Brittingham both related that Rob. the co-defendants traded guns during the drive. As a result, Joey Smith takes possession of the 40 caliber pistol. He added that he had seen Joey Smith with this gun before. However, he was also aware that the Appellant kept the gun. He remembers Joey Smith asking the Appellant for the gun because his own jammed. Other than this, there was no conversation in the car. Heath Brittingham concurred with all of this It was quiet. testimony and what occurred in the vehicle.

Stephen Tuttle testified that the Appellant pulled the car over to the shoulder of the road. He said he was told to get out of the car, but doesn't recall by whom. Teddy Butterfield testified that it was the Appellant that told Tuttle to get out

of the car. At this point, Teddy Butterfield recalls the Appellant telling Joey Smith "Break his jaw. Teach him a lesson". Heath Brittingham remembers it as "Pop him the jaw for stealing my shit". Teddy Butterfield watches Joey Smith get out of the car. Heath Brittingham believes that the co-defendant stated "Fuck that" and he spun around and fired his gun. Butterfield remembers hearing the gun shot. Stephen Tuttle testifies that was when everything went dark. He later felt a hole in his head and concluded his testimony by indicating that after the shooting, he had memory problems.

Butterfield and Brittingham testify that Joey Smith got back in the car. They both recall the Appellant asking "Is he dead?" Joey Smith responds, "I shot him in the head". They both described the Appellant driving his car a couple of hundred yards and pulling over to the side of the road again. There was no conversation. They watch as Joey Smith gets out of the car again. Rob also gets out of the car.

Both Butterfield and Brittingham reveal that they didn't know what was going to happen to Rob. They didn't expect Joey to shoot him. However, Teddy Butterfield recalls the Appellant telling Rob to get out of the car. Heath Brittingham hears Rob say "No. Please No". Teddy hears two shots and sees a flash. Heath Brittingham testifies that he saw Joey Smith make the second shot. They both testify that Joey Smith gets back in the car. He turns to Butterfield and Brittingham and tells them "Snitches are bitches. Bitches deserve to die." Heath

Brittingham remembers this too. Both Butterfield and Brittingham testified that they all drove across a bridge and Joey Smith threw the gun out and into the water. They went home and later were taken into the Sheriff's office for questioning. They were taken to the bridge to describe how the weapon was thrown and to assist in recovering it. Both agreed that they were told that if they cooperated they would not be charged with any crimes related to these offenses.

Later, Deputy Nathan Long testified that he dove off of the Howard Franklin Bridge and located the weapon and its spring (T-515). Thereafter followed the witness, Chris Trumble, a firearms expert, who concluded that the projectiles located by the crime scene technician (T-710), were fired from the weapon recovered from the bay. (T-758). The medical examiner testified that the decedent was first shot in the arm and then in the head (T-740). She opined that this latter wound was the fatal one and that the decedent was conscious only 20 to 60 seconds and was dead within a few minutes. The presentation of the State's case concluded shortly thereafter.

The record reflects that counsel for the Appellant attempted during the cross-examination of Heath Brittingham, to offer a prior statement that the witness gave to an investigating officer prior to the trial (T-653). Attorney Ivey was attempting to elicit from Mr. Brittingham that the Appellant had made certain statements regarding his intentions towards the victims. Counsel for the Appellant offers the video tape of the

witnesses statement into evidence and in an effort to impeach him (T-661). The point of defense counsel's inquiry was to establish that no one in the car expected Joey Smith to shoot the boys. The Court denied the introduction of the tape into evidence and a transcript was proffered (R-364).

The Appellant's Motion For Directed Verdict was denied (T-812). The defense began their presentation with the testimony of Technician Whonstetler and by having her identify the video tape of Heath Brittingham's statements to the detective. Thereafter, the detective was called to testify (T-823). He reviews the video and testifies in a proffer as to its contents. includes Mr. Brittingham's statements to him that the Appellant had asked of the co-defendant what he was doing at the time that the victims were shot. In addition, that witness stated to the detective that the Appellant had no knowledge of what was going to happen to the victims and the co-defendant jumped out of the car, reached back in, grabbed the kid and shot him. Defense counsel's attempts to offer the video tape into evidence were rejected by the Court (T-848). The trial court ruled that the impeach the witness based upon his defendant could not indication that he did not recall his prior testimony.

The defendant elects not to testify at his trial (T-857). The jury instructions are agreed upon (T-1000). The jury deliberates and finds the Appellant guilty, as charged, of murder in the first degree in Count I of the Indictment and a lessor included offense of attempted murder in the second degree

in the second count of the Indictment. A judgment is entered by the Court accordingly (R-424). The penalty phase of the trial proceeds. The State relies upon the evidence presented in its case in chief and the defendant opts to present no evidence or argument regarding the sentence. The jury renders an advisory sentence to the Court by a ten (10) to two (2) vote that it should impose the death penalty upon the Appellant (R-430). The Appellant's counsel files his motion for new trial which alleges, in part, the following grounds: that the State failed to prove that the homicide occurred with premeditation; that there was no showing of the Appellant's co-participation with the co-defendant in killing the victim and attempting to kill the other; that there was no showing that the Appellant ordered or conspired with the co-defendant to commit or attempt to commit the homicide alleged; and that the Court erred in disallowing the video tape of Heath Brittingham as impeachment of his prior testimony. The motion was denied.

The Court conducted the Spencer hearing for the Appellant on January 3, 2002 (R-553). The Defendant again elects to present no evidence, testimony or argument. The Court entered its sentencing order (R-472) and sentences the Appellant to death. This occurred on February 14, 2002 (R-569). The Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal on February 15, 2002 (R-500) and amended said notice on February 18, 2002 (R-507).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Appellant first argues that the Court erred in its refusal to permit him to impeach the witness, Heath Brittingham, by showing his previous statements given to Detective Moe. Appellant argues that when this witness testified to facts material in the case, it should have been provable by way of impeachment that he had previously made statements relating to the same facts which were inconsistent with his testimony offered at trial. Defense counsel had two alternatives: drawing out in the cross examination of Mr. Brittingham his previous inconsistent statements or, (2) as occurred in this case where he failed to remember it, the making of the statement should have been allowed to be proved by the tape or the testimony of Detective Moe. The Appellant should have been authorized to present this testimony of the witness upon the notion that doubt existed as to the truthfulness of both The Court's refusal to permit the Appellant to introduce the prior statement of Heath Brittingham, regarding what he failed to recollect at the time of his testimony at the trial was prejudicial error.

The evidence of premeditation established by the State to support the Appellant's conviction consisted of circumstantial evidence from which the jury inferred premeditation. However, this evidence was not inconsistent with all reasonable hypotheses of innocence or with other inferences that reasonably could be drawn from the evidence. The State's failure to

exclude every reasonable hypothesis that the homicide occurred other than by premeditated design of Appellant fails to sustain the jury's verdict of first degree murder. The events that lead up to the killing of the victim did not show a fully formed conscious purpose on the part of the Appellant to slay him.

The Appellant's felony murder conviction should also be reversed for insufficient evidence. Although the State showed that the Appellant was present at the time the kidnapping murder took place, the circumstantial evidence presented in this cause was wholly inadequate to sustain the conviction. This Court should hold that the murder was an independent act of Joey Smith, the Appellant's co-felon. There was not sufficient evidence to sustain that the homicide was committed in furtherance of a joint felony, and therefore, was not a felony murder.

The trial court also erred in applying the aggravating circumstances it did in the present case, to-wit: That the homicide occurred while the co-defendants were engaged in a felony and that the homicide occurred in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. The State failed to sustain that the capital felony was committed while the Appellant was engaged, or was an accomplice, in the commission of, or in an attempt to commit a kidnapping. The facts of this case do not establish proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the specified felony. In addition, the cold, calculated and premeditated factor should not have been applied here. The law requires that it be proved

as a heightened form of premeditation and greater than that premeditation required for the homicide. Elements to prove this were missing in this particular case. Without them, the factor is not established or proven.

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS REFUSAL TO PERMIT APPELLANT TO IMPEACH HEATH BRITTINGHAM BY SHOWING HIS PREVIOUS STATEMENTS.

The homicide and attempted homicide occurred in this case along a roadway in Pasco County, Florida. Appellant was driving the automobile occupied by the co-defendant, Joey Smith, witnesses Heath Brittingham and Teddy Butterfield and the victims, Stephen Tuttle and Robert Crawford. The record reflects the testimony of Stephen Tuttle, Teddy Butterfield and Heath Brittingham, as to their recollections of what occurred on that roadside.

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