IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FAUNCE LEVON PEARCE

Appellant,

vs. CASE NO. SC02-476

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center #4 3507 Frontage Rd., #200 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 287-7910 (813) 281-5501 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

kidnapping, so kidnapping has not exactly been proven."¹⁷ (V-11, 1016-17). Since the specific argument now offered by counsel was not made below, this issue is not preserved for appeal. As this Court stated in Rodriguez v. State, 609 So.2d 493, 499 (Fla. 1992), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 99, 126 L.Ed.2d 66 (1993), "[i]t is well settled that the specific legal ground upon which a claim is based must be raised at trial and a claim different than that raised below will not be heard on appeal." See also San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1345 (Fla. 1997); Lindsey v. State, 636 So. 2d 1327, 1328 (Fla. 1994).

In any case, appellant's contention that the state was required to show that kidnapping was the "dominant motive" for the murder is without merit. The cited authority for that proposition, <u>Delap v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1983), does not suggest or even imply the State must prove the dominant motive for the murder was kidnapping. Indeed, as the statutory language plainly states, it is sufficient if the State proves that the homicide "was committed while the defendant was engaged, or as an accomplice, in the commission of, or an attempt to commit ... any: ...Kidnapping." Section 921.141(5)(d), Fla. Stat. (2000). <u>C.f. Philmore v. State</u>, 820 So. 2d 919, 935 (Fla. 2002)(the avoiding arrest aggravator focuses on the motive for the crime and this Court will affirm

 $^{^{17}}$ During the <u>Spencer</u> hearing defense counsel reiterated his position that "there was no kidnapping." (V-4, 557).

this factor in cases where the victim is not a police officer only where witness elimination was the "dominant motive").

Kidnapping was established by the fact that Pearce held the victims against their will and ultimately removed them to a remote location where they could be murdered without detection.

The trial court found as follows below:

This factor is based on Defendant's actions in directing Crawford, Tuttle and two other young people into his office, with gun in hand; in holding them there for a short period of time against their will; in releasing two of the other young people, but refusing to permit Crawford and Tuttle to accompany these other young people when they were released, even though he was requested to do so; in directing Crawford and Tuttle into an automobile to sit in the back seat between two of Defendant's armed accomplices and with the armed co-defendant, Smith, in the front passenger seat; and in allowing Crawford and Tuttle to exit the automobile only when the armed co-defendant, Smith, directed each of them to do so just before Smith shot them. At no time did defendant or his codefendant, Smith, ever ask Crawford or Tuttle if they wanted to stay in the office or get into automobile and, without any reasonable doubt, Crawford and Tuttle were coerced into going into defendant's office and getting into Defendant's automobile on their death ride. The kidnapping was clearly intended to facilitate the murder and attempted murder of Crawford and Tuttle and certainly elevated the nature of the murder and attempted murder to a gangland "going for a ride."

(V-3, 477-78). The trial court's conclusion is well supported by the evidence and should be affirmed by this Court on appeal.

Appellant next argues that since he was not the trigger man, it is unconstitutional to sentence him to death under Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782 (1982). Once again, however, appellant

posits an argument that was not made below in the trial court. As such, the issue is procedurally barred from review. Rodriguez, 609 So. 2d at 499. In any case, under the facts presented here, the issue lacks any merit.

In <u>Franqui v. State</u>, 804 So. 2d 1185, 1206 n. 12 (Fla. 2001), this Court observed the following:

In Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982), the United States Supreme Court held that imposition of the death penalty in a felony murder case in which the defendant did not kill, attempt to kill, or intend that a killing take place or that lethal force be employed violated the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment as applied to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. In Tison v. Arizona, 481 U.S. 137, 107 S.Ct. 1676, 95 L.Ed.2d 127 (1987), the Court held that finding of major participation in the felony committed, combined with reckless indifference to human life, is sufficient to satisfy the Enmund culpability requirement for consistency with the Eighth Amendment.

It is clear that although Pearce did not pull the trigger, he was one who orchestrated the victim's murder. See Lebron v. State, 799 So. 2d 997, 1020 (Fla. 2001)(finding Enmund/Tison requirement satisfied where defendant was a major participant in the underlying felonies and "orchestrated the events" leading to the victim's death). See also Duboise v. State, 520 So. 2d 260, 265-66 (Fla. 1988). Pearce brought the trigger man into contact with the victims, ensuring that his associates come armed. Moreover, Pearce provided Smith with the murder weapon after Smith complained that his own gun was susceptible to jamming.

Pearce ordered the victims' into the car and took them to a remote location where the murder and attempted murder could occur without detection. Pearce was present at the scene of the first shooting and after Tuttle was shot, questioned Smith to ensure that he was dead. A short while later, he stopped the car to let Smith and Crawford out so that Crawford could be murdered.

Under these circumstances, the evidence establishes that Pearce was a major participant in the underlying kidnapping felony. More than simply reckless indifference, the record establishes that Pearce wanted the victims dead. Thus, the Enmund/Tison requirement is clearly satisfied. Pearce is not entitled to any relief from this Court. 18

ISSUE V.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER OF CRAWFORD WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant finally contends that the trial court erred in finding the cold, calculated, and premeditated, aggravator (CCP) for the murder of Robert Crawford. (Appellant's Brief at 35). However, appellant failed to make this argument to the

Enmund/Tison in its order, the trial court did analyze the role of Pearce and his culpability, essentially satisfying this Court's precedent requiring such an analysis. See V-3, 480-82; 486-87; Diaz v. State, 513 So. 2d 1045, 1048 n.2 (Fla. 1987).

trial court below. Consequently, this issue has not been preserved for review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). In any case, the evidence introduced below is sufficient to sustain the trial court's finding on appeal.

When reviewing aggravating factors on appeal, this Court in Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998), reiterated the standard of review, noting that it "is not this Court's function to reweigh the evidence to determine whether the State proved each aggravating circumstance beyond a reasonable doubt - that is the trial court's job. Rather, our task on appeal is to review the record to determine whether the trial court applied the right rule of law for each aggravating circumstance and, if so, whether competent substantial evidence supports its finding," quoting Willacy v. State, 696 So. 2d 693, 695 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997). Pearce does not contend the trial court's instruction on the CCP factor was erroneous, he simply urges that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's finding.

As a review of the trial court's findings will show, the evidence clearly supported a conclusion that this murder was cold, calculated and premeditated.

With regard to this factor, the trial court made the following extensive findings in its written order:

- a. After requiring Crawford, Tuttle and the other 2 young people to come into his office, Defendant called Butterfield to arm himself and with some other armed people come to Defendant's office. Without any reasonable doubt Defendant's actions in doing so revealed that he had a plan for Tuttle, Crawford and the other young people that required the use of firearms.
- b. Upon arrival at Defendant's office, the armed co-defendant, Smith, said, "We're here to do business". Neither Defendant nor co-defendant Smith explained what this "business" was, but it was clear from the circumstances that this "business" was intended to harm Crawford and Tuttle in some fashion.
- c. Defendant and his co-defendant Smith conversed for a few moments outside anyone's hearing shortly before Defendant and co-defendant Smith directed Crawford and Tuttle into the automobile. The contents of this conversation are unknown and is not recalled to show the existence of any plan, only to show that Defendant and his co-defendant Smith had an opportunity to plan the actions that were about to take place.
- d. Defendant drove the automobile with Crawford, Tuttle, co-defendant Smith and the accomplices in it several miles to a deserted section of S.R. 54, where Defendant stopped the automobile and the attempted murder and murder subsequently took Neither Defendant nor his co-defendant Smith place. indicated to anyone at anytime the destination of their drive and no one requested Defendant stop where he did, a dark, rural section of highway with no traffic and no houses or businesses close by. location was ideal for the nefarious purpose Defendant and his co-defendant Smith, and it is beyond belief that it was a spur-of-the-moment whim that caused Defendant to stop when and where he did. It is also important to note that no one in the automobile requested Defendant to stop when and where he did, so his actions in doing so can only be viewed as part of his plan.
- e. During this ride Defendant and co-defendant Smith exchanged guns, co-defendant Smith saying his firearm was jammed. If it was not intended for co-defendant Smith to fire his firearm, what difference did it make if his gun was jammed, and why did Defendant want to make sure that co-defendant Smith had a working firearm?

- f. Although co-defendant Smith actually pulled the trigger on the gun that he fired into Tuttle, Defendant voiced no objection or surprise, or shock, even though he had requested co-defendant Smith to "break his jaw" when co-defendant had exited the automobile with Tuttle. When co-defendant Smith reentered the automobile Defendant asked him "Is he dead?" to which co-defendant Smith said, "I shot him in the head with the .45".
- g. After the attempted murder of Tuttle, Defendant drove the automobile about 200 yards, when he again stopped and again co-defendant Smith exited taking Crawford with him, and co-defendant Smith then shot and successfully executed Crawford. Co-defendant Smith then re-entered the automobile, with no questions by Defendant this time.
- h. Defendant and co-defendant Smith, thereafter, ate breakfast, drove to the Howard Franklin Bridge where co-defendant Smith wrapped the murder weapon in a newspaper and tossed it into Tampa Bay, left their two accomplices at a shopping center for 45 minutes while Defendant and co-defendant Smith went off and did some unknown thing, and then proceeded home.

There was no evidence that Defendant acted in an emotional frenzy, panic or rage at anytime and the evidence was overwhelming that Defendant at all times was cool, calm, collected, sane, rational and in full control of his senses.

The murder of Robert Crawford was clearly caused by a heightened premeditation over and above the required for first-degree murder. Defendant had the means and opportunity to kill Crawford and Tuttle in his office without the aid of co-defendant Smith if he merely intended to kill Crawford and Tuttle. However, in calling in co-defendant Smith, forcing Crawford and Tuttle to ride to a deserted rural section of road, shooting them in the head, and then tossing the murder weapon into Tampa Bay, where he thought it would never be found, shows considerable planning and thought went into the killing and attempted killing that far exceeded what was necessary to kill Crawford and Tuttle and showed the defendant wanted to do the killing without any consequence to himself.

There was no moral or legal justification for the execution of Robert Crawford.

Pearce's argument that the shooting of Crawford was contrary

to his intent "to only 'rough up' the decedent" is not supported by the evidence. First, Pearce's statement was not made when Crawford was ordered out of the car, it was made when Tuttle was ordered out. When Tuttle first got out of the car, Pearce asked Smith to break his jaw for stealing his "shit." While his statement initially suggests an attempt to simply rough up Tuttle, it becomes clear that Pearce's plan with Smith included murder when Smith got back in the car and Pearce sought assurance from Smith that Tuttle was indeed dead. The fair inference of the following sequence of events is that Smith and Pearce had an agreement to murder both of the boys prior to Indeed, the fact that after driving to a deserted area. shooting Tuttle there was no discussion between Pearce and Smith other than Pearce questioning Smith to ensure the victim was dead suggests it was part of a prearranged plan. And, the fact that Pearce believed Tuttle was dead and stopped the car some 200 yards down the road to order Crawford out, with certain knowledge that he would be murdered, satisfies the requirement of heightened premeditation. That Pearce now offers a different interpretation of conceded facts does not suggest the evidence supporting CCP is inadequate.

This Court's consideration of this factor in Hertz v. State, 803 So. 2d 629, 650 (Fla. 2001) is instructive: "Here the calm and deliberate nature of the defendants' actions against the

victims establish this element beyond any reasonable doubt."

Pearce's conduct in this case shows that his plan for the victims was in his mind the minute they left with his money. If they did not come back with the money or drugs, they would pay with their lives. This was a planned execution of Tuttle and Crawford, who, Pearce believed, had ripped him off. Under similar circumstances, this Court has not hesitated to affirm the CCP factor. For example, in Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 229 (Fla. 1998), this Court upheld the CCP finding, stating:

Clearly there was no pretense of moral or legal justification for this killing, he cold, calculated, and premeditated nature of it was shown by the general plan of the defendant being the one with the gun during the robbery, by defendant being the one who chose to lead the victim out of the store at gunpoint, by the defendant keeping her in the backseat of the car for the long ride out to the scene of the murder, and by the defendant taking her out of the car and turning her over to Bush and Parker who knifed and shot her. The Court finds that this aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasonable doubt.

See also Parker v. State, 456 So. 2d 436, 444 (Fla. 1984) (upholding a finding that the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated, where the evidence showed that the "victim had been pleading with defendant not to harm his girl friend and, at the time he was murdered, was lying naked, face down, on a bed," and that, "[b]efore killing the victim by a gunshot blast into his back, defendant accepted a pillow from his partner in order to muffle the shot"); Bell v. State, 699 So. 2d 674, 677 (Fla.

1997)(this Court explained that CCP can be indicated by the circumstances showing such facts as advance procurement of a weapon [ensuring that his "associates" came armed and ensuring that Smith had a gun that did not jam in the instant case], lack of resistance or provocation and the appearance of a killing carried out as a matter of course.).

Assuming, arguendo, this Court were to conclude that the trial court's finding was not supported by competent substantial evidence, the striking of this factor would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 853, 865 (Fla. 2001) (Where an aggravating factor is stricken on appeal, the harmless error test is applied to determine whether there is reasonable possibility that the error affected no sentence.); Johnston v. Singletary, 640 So. 2d 1102, 1105 (Fla. 1994) (Where there are two other strong aggravators and no mitigation present, error harmless); Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1994) (error harmless where two other strong aggravating factors found and relatively weak mitigation.).

Finally, although appellant has not asserted that his sentence is disproportionate, a review of similar cases supports the imposition of the death sentence herein. 19 The trial court complied with the procedures set forth by this Court in Koon v.

¹⁹This Court has even affirmed the death penalty in single aggravator cases, despite the presence of mitigation. <u>See e.g.</u> <u>Ferrell v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 390 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert. denied</u>, 117 S.Ct. 1262, 137 L.Ed.2d 341 (1997).

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